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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer’s Report

On behalf of the Board of Directors and management of Bahrain Middle East Bank B.S.C. (“BMB” or 
the “Bank”) we are pleased to submit the Annual Report and accompanying financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2016.

BMB’s Current Position and Business Outlook
BMB’s business was stable in 2016 and the Bank 

remains in a sound financial position. During 2016 

BMB continued to focus on risk management and on 

strengthening controls in all areas of the business. 

The global political and economic outlook for 2017 

and beyond remains uncertain as a result of which 

BMB will again dedicate our resources to supporting 

our current clients and to maintaining our existing 

business base. The Board and management team 

will review BMB’s business model and activities as 

the year progresses and will take such actions as 

are necessary to address what are anticipated to be 

volatile market conditions.

2016 Financial Results
Given the challenging risk environment in which 

the Bank operated, during 2016 BMB’s primary 

emphasis was on short-term low yielding, low risk 

assets.  BMB concentrated on serving its existing 

customers rather than on growing its business base.  

As a result of this conservative approach interest 

income during 2016 was US$ 10.70 million, a 

reduction of 6.3% from US$ 11.42 million in 2015.  

Investment banking income in 2016 was US$ 

1.15 million (2015: US$ 2.17 million) reflecting 

the reduction in new business taken on during 

the year. These factors led to an 11.2% reduction 

in Total Operating Income for 2016 to US$ 11.16 

million (2015: US$ 12.57 million).  Total Operating 

Expenses during 2016 rose by 3.3% to US$ 5.67 

million (2015: US$ 5.49 million).  Net Profit Before 

Impairments in 2016 was US$ 5.49 million (2015: 

US$ 7.08 million).  Impairment Provisions in 2016 

were US$ 0.41 million (2015: US$ 2.00 million).

The above factors resulted in Net Profit for the year 

remaining flat at US$ 5.07 million (2015: US$ 5.08 

million).  This represents earnings per share of 2.10 

cents per share, which is unchanged from 2015.  The 

Cost to Income Ratio for 2016 was 50.8% compared 

to 43.7% in 2015, 42.7% in 2014, 52.7% in 2013 

and 70.1% in 2012.

At 31 December 2016, Total Assets stood at US$ 

177.35 million (2015: US$ 171.87 million). Loans 

and Advances at year end totalled US$ 123.96 

million at 31 December 2016 (2015: US$ 110.71 

million).  Unquoted equity fund investments were 

further reduced during the year to US$ 5.02 million 

at 31 December 2016, compared with US$ 6.64 

million at 31 December 2015, US$ 8.01 million at 

31 December 2014 and US$ 16.49 million a year 

earlier.  Return on Assets for 2016 was 2.9% which 

is unchanged from 2015.

The Bank continues to focus on maintaining a 

sound liquidity position.  As at 31 December 2016, 

Balances with Banks and Financial Institutions 

totalled US$ 40.37 million (2015: US$ 28.37 

million), and Placements with Financial Institutions 

stood at US$ 4.21 million (2015: US$ 19.99 million).  

In addition the Bank had US$ 108.19 million of 

Loans and Advances which mature within 180 days 

(2015: US$ 105.12 million) which also form part of 

BMB’s total liquidity.

Deposits from Financial Institutions fluctuated 

during 2016 but increased marginally at year end 

to US$ 126.57 million (2015: US$ 125.10 million), 

while Deposits from customers reduced slightly to 

US$ 8.41 million at 31 December 2016 from US$ 

8.73 million a year earlier.  

BMB remains debt free.
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The Bank’s Basel III Capital Adequacy Ratio at 31 

December 2016 stood at 23.8% compared with 

22.5% at 31 December 2015, remaining well 

in excess of Central Bank of Bahrain minimum 

requirement of 12.5%.

Total Equity at 31 December 2016 stood at US$ 

39.94 million, an increase of 13.3% over the US$ 

35.26 million reported at 31 December 2015.

Return on Average Ordinary Shareholders Equity for 

2016 was 13.5% compared with 15.3% in 2015.

Compliance, Risk and Regulation 
BMB continues to focus on enhancing our 

compliance and risk management capability.  During 

2016, regulators have started to release information 

on forthcoming standards to be adopted such as 

IFRS-9 Financial Instruments, Common Reporting 

Standards and Value Added Tax. BMB has taken the 

initial steps required for a smooth adoption of these 

standards. In 2017, Basel III Liquidity Coverage 

Ratios, Net Stable Funding Ratios and Leverage 

Ratios are expected to be finalized and enforced.  

Conclusion
BMB performed consistently in 2016 in a challenging 

business environment and enters 2017 on a sound 

financial footing.  The primary objective of the 

Board of Directors and management during 2017 

will continue to be to protect shareholder value and 

to take such actions as are necessary to achieve this.

Wilson Benjamin
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Ritchie Skelding
Chief Executive Officer
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Wison S. Benjamin

Sheikh Abdullah Ali K. Al Sabah 

Mr. Ebrahim A. S. Bu Hendi

Chairman, Board of Directors – Executive Director
Vice Chairman, Executive Committee
Appointed to the Board on 11 March 2000

Vice Chairman, Board of Directors – Executive Director
Chairman, Executive Committee
Appointed to the Board on 11 May 2005

Director, Board of Directors – Independent Director
Chairman, Audit Committee & Corporate Governance Committee
Vice Chairman, Nomination & Remuneration Committee
Appointed to the Board on 11 May 2005

Prior to his election as Chairman of the Board of the Bank in March 2006, Mr. Benjamin was the Vice 
Chairman of the Bank. Over the last 20 years, he has served as the Chief Executive Officer of a number 
of major multi-national companies and has managed investments in public and private companies in 
the United States, Europe and the Gulf Cooperation Council.  Mr. Benjamin received a B.Sc. in Business 
Administration from Al-Hikma University in Baghdad, Iraq. 

Prior to his election as Vice Chairman in March 2006, Sheikh Abdullah was a member of the Board of 
Directors of the Bank. He is Chairman of Universal Food, Chief Executive Officer of Universal Media 
and the Joint-CEO of Tawseel eCommerce Group in Kuwait. He also serves on the Boards of many other 
companies in Kuwait, Egypt and the United States. He has a Bachelors in Engineering and a Masters in 
Finance from George Washington University.

Mr. Bu Hendi has over 30 years of banking and treasury experience gained through working with CitiBank, 
Chase Manhattan, Banque BNP Paribas and National Commercial Bank, Saudi Arabia. He also spent 16 
years at Bank of Bahrain & Kuwait as AGM – Treasury, Investment and overseas branches. He has been 
Board Member and Chairman of the Audit Committee of Bahrain Commercial Facilities Company since 
March 2007. Mr. Bu Hendi has an MBA from Sheffield Hallam University, U.K. 
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Prof. Awadh Kh. Al-Enezi 

Mr. Jawad Naser Jawad Jaafar

Mr. Karunaker Nampalli

Director, Board of Directors – Independent Director
Vice Chairman, Audit Committee & Corporate Governance Committee
Chairman, Nomination & Remuneration Committee
Appointed to the Board on 23 October 1999

Director, Board of Directors – Independent Director
Appointed to the Board on 26 November 2014

Director, Board of Directors – Executive Director
Member of the Audit Committee & Corporate Governance Committee
Appointed to the Board on 8 July 2006

Prof. Al-Enezi is a PhD graduate of Bath University, U.K. in 1991 and the University of New York in 1993. 
He is presently a lecturer at the University of Kuwait. A recipient of numerous awards, he has published 
several papers dealing with the socio-economic culture in Kuwait. He is an active Board member of several 
committees in Kuwait University and as consultant in the public & private sectors.

Mr. Jaafar is a veteran banker who has worked for 30 years in various banking institutions including Banque 
Indosuez, Ahli Commercial Bank, Eskan Bank and Seera Investment Bank. His spectrum of experience 
spans banks in Bahrain and abroad both in local and multinational institutions. He is a graduate of the 
University of Basra with a diploma in Chemistry in 1974, BIBF with a diploma in Intermediate Banking 
Studies in 1991 and the Arab University of Beirut with a diploma in General Law Studies in 2001.

Mr. Nampalli has over 40 years of banking and finance experience. He held senior banking positions in 
India and GCC specializing in trade, corporate and project finance. During his banking career, he also 
served as faculty member of a staff training college and conducted several banking workshops in major 
cities across India. Mr. Nampalli is a graduate of Osmania University, India and holds a Post Graduate 
Diploma in Export-Import Management. He is also a Certified Associate of the Indian Institute of Bankers.  
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Mr. Salim Ali 

Mr. Yohannan Abraham

Director, Board of Directors – Independent Director
Appointed to the Board on 26 November 2014

Director, Board of Directors – Independent Director
Appointed to the Board on 26 November 2014

Mr. Ali is a Partner and heads the International Division at Al-Hamad Legal Group in Kuwait. Mr. Ali 
is a highly accomplished attorney with a strong legal background with over 14 years of experience in 
commercial and corporate law in over 25 countries worldwide. His primary practice areas include Mergers 
and Acquisitions, Joint Ventures, Capital Markets and Corporate Governance. He is a member of the 
Virginia Bar Association in the United States having been admitted to the State Bar of Virginia in 2002. 
Previous to that, he received his Bachelor’s degree from George Mason University and subsequently his 
Juris Doctor degree from Rutgers University School of Law. 

Mr. Abraham has more than 33 years of experience spanning a number of multinational banks in leadership 
positions. He was the Chief Executive Officer of Société Générale Wealth Management in Bahrain and 
before that was a Director of BNP Paribas in Geneva. Earlier in his career, he worked for Shearson Lehman 
Inc., and Merrill Lynch International in Bahrain. He is a licensed Financial Consultant recognized by the 
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority in the United States and a Masters of Commerce degree holder 
from Madurai Kamaraj University. 
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Mr. Ritchie Skelding
Chief Executive Officer
Chairman of the Executive Management Committee

Mr. Skelding joined BMB as Chief Executive Officer in April 2013. He has extensive international experience 
in investment and commercial banking and a proven track record in delivering value for shareholders.

Mr. Skelding has previously held executive positions with Spectrum Capital Limited as Director and Senior 
Vice President; and at The Long-Term Credit Bank of Japan Ltd. (London Branch), where he was Vice 
President, Head of Corporate Banking. He began his career at Hill Samuel Merchant Bank.

Mr. Skelding graduated from the University of Durham in 1986. He holds the City Financial Diploma 
(Honours) and The Securities Institute Certificate of Corporate Finance. Mr. Skelding is a member of the 
Royal Aeronautical Society, a Freeman of The Guild of Air Pilots and Air Navigators, and a member of the 
Aviation Club of Great Britain. He is a Director of a number of companies in the USA, UK and Middle East.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Mr. Gaurav Baid
Chief Financial Officer
Vice Chairman of the Executive Management Committee

Mr. Baid joined BMB as Chief Financial Officer in October 2013. He has extensive diversified experience 
in consulting and industry experience in financial services in the Kingdom of Bahrain. He is a qualified 
Chartered Accountant and an Associate Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 
 
He has previously served as a Senior Manager at Ernst & Young, Kingdom of Bahrain, with primary focus 
on audit of key investment and commercial banks.  His work in India covered advisory and assurance 
services in manufacturing, trading and service industries.
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Mr. Raza Shah Kakakhail

Mr. Mohammed Al Shaikh

Mr. Philip Morley

Head of Operations
Member of the Executive Management Committee

Head of Human Resources

Head of Information Technology

Mr. Shah holds a Master’s Degree in Public Administration (Major Finance) from University of Peshawar, 
Pakistan.

Mr. Shah joined BMB in June 2010 and has over 18 years of combined experience across both commercial 
and investment banking including banking operations, business expansion, treasury, trade finance, Islamic 
banking, corporate finance and client relationship management. Previously, Mr. Shah was employed at 
Bank Alfalah Limited as Country Head, Afghanistan and MCB Bank Ltd., Pakistan in various managerial 
level capacities.

Mr. Al Shaikh joined BMB in 1983. He has over 38 years of experience in human resources, administration, 
training and development of staff. He has received extensive training in human resources and banking 
through courses in the U.K. and in the Kingdom of Bahrain. Prior to joining BMB, Mr. Al Shaikh worked 
with Aluminum Bahrain in the Human Resources Department.

Mr. Morley joined BMB in 1998. He has over 18 years of experience in the IT Industry with in-depth knowledge 
of application systems, software development, project management and IT Infrastructure expertise. Prior 
to joining BMB, Mr.  Morley served as a consultant handling projects for various multinational organizations 
in India.
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Mr. Mohamed Alhusaini

Mr. Jeet Gandhi

Vice President - Governance, Risk and Compliance
Member of the Executive Management Committee

Head of Internal Audit

Mr. Alhusaini joined BMB in 2011. He has 9 years of experience initially starting in Risk Management 
and eventually taking up key Compliance and Corporate Governance roles. He is an ICA - International 
Diploma in Compliance - holder and a Member of the International Compliance Association (MICA). He 
is also an affiliate of The Professional Risk Managers International Association (PRMIA). He graduated with 
a Bachelor of Commerce degree majoring in Finance from McGill University in Montreal, Canada. Prior to 
joining BMB, Mr. Alhusaini worked with Eskan Bank, Kingdom of Bahrain.

Mr. Gandhi is a Certified Internal Auditor and a Member of The Institute of Internal Auditors. He is also 
a qualified Chartered Accountant and an Associate Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
India. 

Mr. Gandhi joined BMB in October 2013. He has over 15 years of experience in audit and consulting in the 
financial services and private equity sector in India and in the Kingdom of Bahrain. Prior to joining BMB, 
he served as an Assistant Manager at Ernst & Young, Kingdom of Bahrain, with primary focus on audit of 
key investment and commercial banks and asset management companies.
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1. Introduction

BMB operates under a written corporate governance framework drawn from the Corporate Governance 
Code of the Kingdom of Bahrain.  This framework explicitly states the goals, roles and responsibilities for 
its Board of Directors, management and staff, and includes well defined reporting lines and structures.  At 
the department level, the Bank employs detailed policies and procedures, segregation of duties and dual 
controls to be in conformance with the Code.

2. Framework

The Corporate Governance Framework of the Bank includes:

• A Disclosure Policy;
• Code of Conduct Policy;
• Code of Ethics;
• Whistle Blower Policy;
• Remuneration Policy;
• Key Persons Dealing Policy; and
• Corporate Governance Policy.

3. Shareholders

The shareholding structure of the Bank as at 31 December 2016 is as follows:

3.1 Top Five Shareholders

3.2 Distribution of shareholders as percentage of total outstanding shares

Name of the Shareholder Number of Shares % of shareholding

AN Investment W.L.L. (Bahrain)

Al Fawares Holding Company K.S.C. (Kuwait)

Massaleh Investment Company K.S.C. (Kuwait)

Mohammed Al Ohali (Saudi Arabia)

Securities Group K.S.C.  (Kuwait)

Less than 1%

1% to less than 5% 

5% to less than 10% 

10% to less than 20% 

20% to less than 50% 

50% and above

        9,704,440 

      31,366,882

      39,025,696 

-

161,906,308   

-

           13,131 

                   3 

                   2 

-

2   

-

4.01%

12.96%

16.13%

-

66.90%

-

104,000,000

57,906,308

19,600,005

19,425,691

11,760,000

42.97%

23.93%

8.10%

8.03%

4.86%

Total 13,138242,003,326 100.0%

Ordinary Shares Number of
shareholders

Number of shares % of shareholding
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3.3 Distribution of Shareholders by nationality

Country

Total

% of shareholding

100.00%

3.4 Insider Trading

No trading of the Bank’s shares was undertaken by its Directors or senior management during the financial 
year 2016.

4. The Board of Directors

4.1 Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is ultimately responsible for the governance and performance of the Bank. The Board discharges 
that responsibility by:

• Setting the strategic direction of the Bank including the identification, acceptance, monitoring and 
management of risks;

• Establishing a robust corporate governance system, which includes risk limits, internal controls, 
policies and procedures and a system to foster compliance with applicable laws as well as professional 
standards and ethics by itself and Bank staff and monitoring the same for implementation;

• Reviewing its own and the Bank management’s performance; and
• Preparation and reporting of the Bank’s financial results in a fair and transparent manner.

4.2 Structure and composition of the Board

In accordance with the Bank’s Articles of Association, the Board is elected by the Bank’s shareholders. The 
current composition of the Board is eight Directors, with five being Independent Directors. Collectively, 
the Board possesses knowledge, experience and skills appropriate for the Bank.

The Board considers that there is an appropriate balance of Executive and Independent Directors on the 
Board and that the current Board composition is appropriate. 

The roles and responsibilities of the Chairman and the CEO are separate from one another.

Neither the Government of the Kingdom of Bahrain nor senior management of the Bank holds any shares 
of the Bank.

Two Directors on record held direct shareholding in the Bank; Sheikh Abdullah Ali K. Al Sabah (158,836 
shares) and Prof. Awadh Kh. Al-Enezi (126,001 shares) as of 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015.

Kingdom of Bahrain

State of Kuwait

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Arab Republic of Egypt

Others

44.77%

38.53%

8.58%

4.80%

3.32%
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4.2 Structure and composition of the Board (continued)

The Chairman’s main responsibilities are:

4. The Board of Directors (continued)

The day-to-day management of the Bank has been delegated by the Board to the CEO. The CEO is 
responsible for the control and monitoring of the Bank’s business on a day-to-day basis, recommending 
strategy to the Board, leading senior management and implementing the Board’s strategic and operational 
decisions.

Independent Directors have the flexibility to meet prior or post the Board meetings and to review issues 
without the presence of the other Board members.

4.3 Appointment / Re-election of the Board

The Board of Directors are elected based on majority voting by the shareholders. The current Board of 
Directors were re-elected at the Annual General Meeting on 23 March 2014, for a three year period.

4.4 Induction and professional development

Induction programs are tailored for all newly appointed Directors. The program comprises a comprehensive 
Directors’ Handbook, meetings with other Directors and senior management, as well as comprehensive 
guidance on the duties and responsibilities of Directors, the Bank’s policies and procedures and relevant 
legal and regulatory requirements.

4.5 Assessment of the Board

The performance evaluation of the Board, its Committees and Directors was undertaken at the year 
end. The Evaluation Report will be placed before the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 16 
February 2017.

4.6 Meetings of the Board of Directors and Committees

The Board of Directors met as per the constitution of each Committee and in line with the Articles of the 
Bank and the Corporate Governance Code.  They also received information between meetings in respect 
of activities of the management committee and developments in the Bank’s business.

To lead the Board and ensure the effective engagement and contribution of all Directors, so that the 
Board may fully discharge its legal and regulatory responsibilities;
To ensure effective communication with shareholders and ensure that the Board members understand 
the views of the major shareholders; and
To develop a constructive relationship with the CEO and to manage his performance.

•

•

•
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Mr. Karunaker Nampalli

Name of Director

Name of Director

Name of Director

Board Meetings (Location: Kingdom of Bahrain)

Executive Committee Meetings

Audit and Corporate Governance Committee Meetings

3 November 2016

27 October 2016

3 November 2016

11 August 2016

4 August 2016

11 August 2016

12 May 2016

28 April 2016

12 May 2016

10 February 2016

21 January 2016

10 February 2016

Mr. Wilson S. Benjamin

Sheikh Abdullah Ali K. Al Sabah

Mr. Ebrahim A. S. Bu Hendi

The Board of Directors met four times during the year ended 31 December 2016, on the dates listed below:

The Executive Committee met four times during the year ended 31 December 2016, on the dates listed below:

Present, including attendance through conference calls

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee met four times during the year ended 31 December 2016, 
on the dates listed below:

Sheikh Abdullah Ali K. Al Sabah

Mr. Wilson S. Benjamin

Mr. Ebrahim A. S. Bu Hendi

Mr. Salim Ali

Prof. Awadh Kh. Al-Enezi

Mr. Karunaker Nampalli

Mr. Jawad Naser Jawad Jaafar

Mr. Salim Ali

Mr. Yohannan Abraham

4.6.1 Meetings of the Board of Directors

4.6.2 Meetings of the Executive Committee

4.6.3 Meetings of the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee

Prof. Awadh Kh. Al-Enezi
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4. The Board of Directors (continued)

Name of Director Nomination & Remuneration Committee Meetings

3 November 201610 February 2016

Prof. Awadh Kh. Al-Enezi

The Nomination & Remuneration Committee met twice during 2016. During the year ended 31 December 2016, 
the Nomination & Remuneration Committee met on the dates listed below. The aggregate remuneration paid to 
its members during 2016 amounted to US$ 10 thousand (2015: US$ 10 thousand).

Mr. Ebrahim A. S. Bu Hendi

Mr. Jawad Naser Jawad Jaafar

4.6 Meetings of the Board of Directors and Committees (continued)

4.6.4 Meetings of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee

4.7 Board Committees

The Board has established the following four committees to ensure that it carries out its functions and provides 
effective supervision and leadership:
 
• Executive Committee
• Audit Committee
• Corporate Governance Committee
• Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The functions of the Audit Committee and Corporate Governance Committee have been combined based on the 
activities of the Bank, with the prior approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain.

4.7.1 Executive Committee (“EXCO”)

The primary responsibilities and functions of EXCO are to:

• Act on behalf of the Board when practicality and expediency dictates;
• Act in limited circumstances, on emergency matters that require immediate approval or other actions of the 

Board;
• Ensure continuity in the management of the business and affairs of the Bank;
• Discuss at greater lengths various macro management aspects of the Bank, including investments, credit, risk 

and capital adequacy aspects of the Bank;
• Provide an avenue where specific issues may be explored in greater depth than may be possible during Board 

meetings; and
• Act as an advisor to the Board on various matters.
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4.7.2 Audit Committee

The primary responsibilities and functions of the Audit Committee are to provide assistance to the Board to fulfill 
its duties to ensure and oversee:

• The integrity of the Bank’s financial statements;
• The suitability, independence and performance of the Bank’s auditors (internal and external), as well as  

remuneration of the Bank’s external auditors;
• Internal controls, including controls over financial reporting and disclosure; and
• Compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

Generally, the role of the Audit Committee is advisory in nature, with recommendations reported to the Board for 
final approval.  However, in certain limited circumstances decisions may be taken by the Audit Committee, which 
are binding on the Board (i.e. approving the terms of engagement of the external auditor). The Audit Committee 
holds a minimum of four meetings per year and provides regular reports to the Board.

4.7.3 Corporate Governance Committee

The primary responsibilities and functions of the Corporate Governance Committee are:

• To oversee the annual performance evaluation of the Board and individual Directors;
• To ensure the compliance with regulatory requirements relating to corporate governance; and
• Report on corporate governance matters to the Bank’s constituents; in particular reference to the regulator 

and shareholders.

The role of this Committee is advisory in nature. Recommendations, if any, are made to the Board for final 
approval.

4.7.4 Nomination & Remuneration Committee

The Nomination & Remuneration Committee responsibilities are to:

• Identify persons qualified to become members of the Board or senior managers of the Bank (with the exception 
of the appointment of the internal auditor which is the responsibility of the Audit Committee), and make 
recommendations accordingly;

• Review the Bank’s remuneration policies for approved persons consistent with Central Bank of Bahrain 
(“CBB”) guidelines, corporate values and strategy of the Bank;

• Make recommendations regarding remuneration policies and amounts for approved persons to the Board, 
taking account of total remuneration including salaries, fees, expenses and employee benefits;

• Recommend Board member remuneration based on their attendance and performance; and
• Oversee Directors’ corporate governance educational activities.

In determining the composition of the Board, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee considers the 
knowledge, skills and experience required by the Board. No Director participates in any decisions regarding his 
own appointment or remuneration. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is authorized to take certain 
appointment and remuneration decisions which may bind the Board. In all other cases, recommendations are 
made to the Board for its final approval.
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5. Code of ethics and conflict of interest

The Corporate Governance Committee reviews the Code of ethics and conflict of interest declarations by each 
Board member and employees of the Bank, and reports to the shareholders at each Annual General Meeting. 

The Board maintains awareness of other commitments of its Directors and senior management. BMB implemented 
a Directors’ Conflict of Interest Policy which is part of the Code of Conduct. As at 31 December 2016, the Board 
was satisfied that other commitments of the Directors and senior management do not conflict with their duties.

6. External Auditors

Ernst & Young were appointed as the external auditors of the Bank for the year 2016 by the shareholders in the 
Annual General Meeting held on 27 March 2016. 

The Audit Committee and Articles of Association include measures to ensure ongoing independence of the Bank’s 
external auditors. The details of audit and non-audit fees payable to the external auditors are available at the 
Bank’s corporate office.

The Bank’s external auditors, have unhindered access to the Audit Committee, Executive Committee, and the 
Board of Directors, with or without members of management being present to discuss their audit findings and any 
other matter which should be brought to the attention of the Board. 

7. Internal Control

The Board is committed to managing risk and ensuring that effective measures are in place to safeguard the Bank’s 
assets, ensure proper accounting records and reliable financial information by procedures designed to avoid or 
reduce risks and ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations. 

The Bank’s internal controls over financial reporting comprise processes designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with accounting principles.

While the Audit Committee oversees and reviews the Bank’s compliance policies and their implementation, the 
Bank’s compliance officer, acts as the focal point and is responsible for implementing, monitoring and ensuring 
compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements. Compliance with anti-money laundering procedures and 
internal training in such procedures is also monitored and implemented by the Bank’s compliance officer. 

The Bank’s compliance officer also serves as its Money Laundering Reporting Officer (“MLRO”) for financial 
crimes regulatory purposes. 

8. Related-party transactions

Details of all transactions where a Director and/or other related parties might have potential interests are provided 
to the Board for its review and approval, and the interested Directors neither participate in the discussions nor vote 
on such matters. During the year, the executive members of the Board abstained from voting on some contracts 
or transactions involving conflict of interest. Those contracts or transactions were approved by the independent 
members of the Board.

For details of the Bank’s related party transactions, please see Note 22 of the audited consolidated financial 
statements as of 31 December 2016.

9. Communication with shareholders

In addition to the Bank’s extensive disclosure through its annual report and website, the Chairman and the CEO 
are in regular dialogue with the controllers to ensure that the Board understands their views.

In compliance with CBB regulations under PD Module of the Volume 1 of CBB Rulebook, the Bank has an 
approved Public Disclosure policy that discloses material information about its activities to various stakeholders 
of the Bank.
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10. Dividend policy

The Bank’s dividend payout is dependent on the financial position of the Bank and the overall strategy as 
determined by the Board.

11. Remuneration

In 2014, the shareholders approved a Remuneration Policy and an Employee Shares Incentive Plan to comply 
with CBB’s Guidelines on Sound Remuneration Practices. The Remuneration Policy formalizes the basis for 
remuneration in the Bank for the Directors and all staff, by effectively linking remuneration to performance. It 
also introduces new methods that ensure rewards are properly linked with the risks being taken and the timing 
and likelihood of future revenues. It introduces provisions for clawback and malus to protect the shareholders’ 
interests in case of deterioration of the business due to past actions of individuals employed by the Bank. It also 
includes back testing and stress-testing methodologies to ensure that the policies adopted are suitable for the 
intended purpose.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee (“NRC”) is responsible for the effective implementation and 
maintenance of the Remuneration Policy. It approves the remuneration system in the Bank, which includes 
remuneration for each member of Executive Management and the total variable remuneration to be distributed. 
The remuneration pool is set to materially mirror the performance of the Bank. NRC is also responsible for 
administrating the long term performance assurance measures such as deferral of remuneration or, when required, 
clawback and malus.

The foremost principle of the remuneration system is Risk Management, where remuneration must be effectively 
aligned with prudent risk taking practices and discipline at all levels of the Bank. The remuneration of all executive 
management must be adjusted for all types of risks. Any given bonus or variable remuneration may not be linked 
directly to a revenue amount or a net profit figure without taking into account risk factors for possible adjustment. 
As a minimum, the following risks are evaluated by the NRC annually and remuneration adjusted accordingly:

• Credit / Investment Risk;
• Market Risk;
• Liquidity Risk;
• Cost & quantity of Capital;
• Capital Adequacy;
• Reputational Risk;
• Regulatory Risk; and
• Timing of revenues, risks and cash flow.

In its review of those risks, NRC uses various quantitative and qualitative data to form its opinion. The experience 
and judgement of the Board members is relied on in particular for assessing risks that are subjective in nature. 

The deferral of remuneration is an instrumental tool in ensuring that, where profits and losses are realised over 
different periods of time, the remuneration is aligned to the time horizon of the risks.  This would be applicable 
particularly where the time horizon of the future cash flows is either far into the future or uncertain. The NRC 
examines closely pay-outs made out for income that cannot be realised or whose likelihood of realisation remains 
uncertain at the time of the pay-out.

The forms of remuneration approved are cash and equity, with the form and mix of remuneration in either of those 
instruments dependent on the proper alignment of risks.
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11. Remuneration (continued)

The Remuneration system takes into account the overall performance of the Bank, however individuals employed 
at all levels are primarily remunerated based on their performance vis-à-vis achieving their set objectives. The 
system distinguishes between Executive Management engaged in risk taking and those in control functions, whose 
objectives are different and are measured accordingly.

Material Risk Takers are executives who through their activity and authority have a material impact on the risk 
exposure of the Bank and its ability to generate revenue and profits. Material Risk Takers are paid with both fixed 
and variable elements. The variable remuneration component constitutes a substantial portion of the potential 
total remuneration for such executives during each year and increases significantly along with the level of seniority 
and responsibility. Half of the variable remuneration paid to these officers is required to be in equity. On the other 
hand, executives and staff employed in control functions are remunerated independently of the business areas 
that they oversee. The performance measures of such persons must be based principally on the achievement 
of the objectives and targets of their functions rather than the performance of the business line they may be 
monitoring for the Bank. As such, the mix of fixed and variable remuneration for control function staff is weighted 
in favor of fixed remuneration.

The remuneration paid out to the Board Members, approved persons in business lines, approved persons in 
control functions, other material risk takers and other staff with details on amounts, deferrals and instrument type 
is disclosed below:

Total Remuneration
(US$ ‘000)

2016

Fixed Variable

2015

Fixed Variable

2014

Fixed Variable

2013

Fixed Variable

2012

Fixed Variable

10299 -- 82 - 94 - 85 -Members of Board of 
Directors - Sitting Fees

1,0951,109 1,1461,128 1,087 - 1,040 763 1,338 605Approved Persons in 
Business Lines

657665 350542 470 104 432 62 500 79Approved Persons in 
Control Functions

13691 28- 121 18 61 - - -Other Material Risk 
Takers

1,1071,114 141133 945 78 1,745 80 1,298 117Other staff not included 
in above categories

-12 -- - - - - - -
Members of Board of 
Directors - Other 
Remuneration
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No guaranteed bonuses, sign-on rewards or severance payments were awarded during the year.

In the previous year, the Group had initiated a share incentive plan under which eligible employees receive a 
portion of their annual performance-based incentive compensation in the form of shares vesting over a period of 
three years. These shares were granted to the employees at US$ 15 cents per share. There are 10,112,017 shares 
(2015: 5,094,273) in the incentive plan. All these shares have commenced vesting, but have not fully vested as at 
31 December 2016. An income statement charge of US$ 64 thousand (2015: Nil) was taken by the Group based 
on management’s best estimate of the number of shares that are likely to vest.

Included in the variable remuneration to be paid in cash, is US$ 114 thousand (2015: US$ 123 thousand), which 
is deferred cash incentive and will vest over a period of three years based on certain conditions.

The start and end date of the vesting period is based on continued employment as well as satisfaction of certain 
performance conditions. The determination of the amount of expense to be recognised as compensation expense 
in any year is estimated based on a model that takes into account the probability weighted vesting of the shares 
at the fair value on the grant date using the historical pattern of employee tenure. These estimates are updated 
regularly based on actual information.

12. Aggregate remuneration to the Board of Directors and senior management

The aggregate remuneration to the Board of Directors and senior management is disclosed above. Further details, 
including the specific amounts paid to Board Committee members, are available at the corporate office of the 
Bank.

13. Employment of relatives of approved persons

As a matter of policy, the Bank avoids the employment of any close relative of any member of its existing staff. 
Employing relatives would be with consideration to the applicants’ qualifications and merits and is subject to 
approval by the NRC, with the condition that any conflicts of interest (if any) be fully disclosed and accepted by 
the committee.

The Chief Executive Officer discloses to the Board annually the relatives of any approved persons occupying 
controlled functions within the Bank.

During the year, the Bank did not employ any close relatives of any staff of the Bank.

Total Variable
Remuneration
(US$ ‘000)

2016

Cash Equity

2015

Cash Equity

2014

Cash Equity

2013

Cash Equity

2012

Cash Equity

-- -- - - - - - -Members of Board of 
Directors

159354 191188 104 - 62 - 79 -Approved Persons in 
Control Functions

28- -- 18 - - - - -Other Material Risk 
Takers

141133 -- 78 - 80 - 117 -Other staff not included 
in above categories

573564 573564 - - 763 - 605 -Approved Persons in 
Business Lines
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Rule-book Reference Regulation Status and Explanation

HC-1.4.6
(Guideline only)

And

HC-1.4.8

The Chairman of the Board should be an 
independent director, so that there will be 
an appropriate balance of power and greater 
capacity of the Board for independent 
decision making.

The Chairman must not be an Executive 
Director.

Being a ‘controlled company’, Chairman is 
an Executive Director, being representative 
of a controller.

14. Corporate Governance Code and Status of Compliance

The Bank’s Board and management have endeavored to comply with the Corporate Governance requirements 
as prescribed in the High Level Controls Module and Public Disclosures Module of the CBB Rulebook Volume 
1. The Rulebook incorporates the Corporate Governance requirements issued by the Ministry of Industry and 
Commerce in 2010. The External Auditors of the Bank have also reviewed the adherence of the Bank to the 
Corporate Governance Code and the disclosure requirements of the CBB.  

The Bank’s Corporate Governance framework contains a full set of Charters, Policies, and a Corporate Governance 
Committee in line with the guidelines and industry best practices. 

The Bank is in compliance to the requirements of the above, as at 31 December 2016 with the following 
exceptions, which are duly explained below.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

5 years key ratios 2016 20142015 2013 2012

12,566 11,92912,231 9,14811,157Gross operating income (US$ ‘000)

5,079 (4,657)4,524 2,1885,073Net profit (loss) (US$’000)

3% -4%3% 4%3%Return on average assets (%)

15% -16%15% 7%13%Return on average shareholders’ equity (%)

44% 53%43% 70%51%Cost-to-income (%)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
BAHRAIN MIDDLE EAST BANK B.S.C.

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Bahrain Middle East Bank  B.S.C.  
(“the  Bank”)  and  its  subsidiary  (together  “the  Group”),  which  comprise  the consolidated statement 
of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive 
income, cash flows and changes in equity for the year then  ended,  and  notes  to  the  consolidated  
financial  statements,  including  a  summary  of significant accounting policies.

In  our  opinion,  the  accompanying  consolidated  financial  statements  present  fairly,  in  all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2016, and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for  the  Audit  of  the  Consolidated  
Financial  Statements  section  of  our  report.  We  are independent of  the Group  in accordance with 
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’  Code  of  Ethics  for  Professional  Accountants  
(IESBA  Code),  and  we  have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key  audit  matters  are  those  matters  that,  in  our  professional  judgment,  were  of  most significance  
in  our  audit  of  the  consolidated  financial  statements  for  the  year  ended  31 December  2016.  These  
matters  were  addressed  in  the  context  of  our  audit  of  the consolidated financial statements as a whole, 
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each 
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters.  Accordingly, 
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to  our  assessment  of  the  risks  of  
material  misstatement  of  the  consolidated  financial statements.  The  results  of  our  audit  procedures,  
including  the  procedures  performed  to address  the  matters  below,  provide  the  basis  for  our  audit  
opinion  on  the  accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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1. Impairment of carrying value of loans and advances
     Refer to note 6 to the consolidated financial statements

Key audit matter / risk How the key audit matter was addressed in the audit

The Directors exercise significant 
judgment using subjective assumptions 
when determining both the timing and 
the amounts of the impairment provision 
of loans and advances. Because loans 
and advances form major portion of the 
Group’s assets and due to the significance 
of judgment used in estimating both 
the specific and collective provisions 
of loans and advances, this audit area 
is considered a key audit risk. As at 31 
December 2016, the gross loans and 
advances amounted to USD 125.4 
million and related impairment provision 
amounted to USD 1.4  million. The basis 
of the impairment provision policy is 
presented in the accounting policies and 
in note 4 to  the financial statements.

We have performed test of controls over the loans and advances 
related processes to confirm the operating effectiveness of the 
key controls in place which identify the impaired loans and 
advances against which provisions are required. 

We tested a sample of loans and advances to assess whether 
an event of impairment has been identified on a timely basis 
by performing substantive audit procedures. We evaluated the 
reasonableness of the underlying data and assumptions used by 
management in determining the provisions.

For the collective impairment provision, we obtained an 
understanding of the methodology used by the management 
to determine the collective provisions, assessed the underlying 
assumptions and the sufficiency of the data used by management. 

We also assessed whether the financial statement disclosures 
appropriately reflect the requirements of IFRS. 

Refer to the critical accounting estimates and judgements, 
disclosures of loans and advances and financial risk management 
on notes 4, note 6 and note 25 to the consolidated financial 
statements.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

2. Maturity of deposits from financial institution
    Refer to note 9 and note 25 to the consolidated financial statements

Key audit matter / risk

The Bank has deposits of US$ 126.5 
million from a single financial institution 
in the region since September 2010, 
with a monthly maturity and rollover. 
Because these deposits represent 92% 
of the total liabilities of the Group, this 
audit area is considered a key audit risk.

How the key audit matter was addressed in the audit

We have circularised deposits confirmations to the financial 
institution to check the completeness and existence of the 
balances.

We have assessed the management’s liquidity projections, 
challenged the assumptions and the input from their past 
experience used in the assumptions, further we have verified 
the deal tickets to check the maturities of the deposits to see if 
these are rolled over on maturities. We also checked the rollover 
of these deposits subsequent to 31 December 2016 and before 
31 January 2017.

We also assessed whether the financial statements disclosures 
appropriately reflect the requirements of IFRS. Refer to note 9 
and 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other information included in the Group’s 2016 Annual Report 
Other information consists of the information included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Board of Directors is responsible for the other 
information. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate 
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should 
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
As required by the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and Volume 1 of the Central Bank of Bahrain (“the 
CBB”) Rule Book, we report that:

The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Nader Rahimi.

Partner’s registration no. 121
31 January 2017
Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain

the Bank has maintained proper accounting records and the consolidated financial statements are in 
agreement therewith; 

the financial information contained in the Report of the Board of Directors is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements;

we are not aware of any violations of the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, the Central Bank of 
Bahrain and Financial Institutions Law, the CBB Rule Book (Volume 1 and applicable provisions of 
Volume 6) and the CBB directives, regulations and associated resolutions, rules and procedures of the 
Bahrain Bourse or the terms of the Bank’s memorandum and articles of association during the year 
ended 31 December 2016 that might have had a material adverse effect on the business of the Bank 
or on its consolidated financial position; and

satisfactory explanations and information have been provided to us by Management in response to all 
our requests.

a)

b)

c)

d)
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Bahrain Middle East Bank B.S.C.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Note US$ '000 US$ '000

ASSETS 
Balances with banks and financial institutions  40,374  28,373 
Treasury bills and placements with financial institutions 5  4,207  19,998 
Investments at fair value through profit or loss  1,149  161 
Loans and advances 6  123,958  110,705 
Available-for-sale investments 7  5,021  9,530 
Held-to-maturity investment  179  216 
Other assets 8  2,464  2,889 

TOTAL ASSETS  177,352  171,872 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

LIABILITIES
Deposits from financial institutions 9  126,567  125,098 
Deposits from customers 10  8,405  8,726 
Other liabilities 11  2,443  2,786 

Total liabilities  137,415  136,610 

EQUITY
Share capital 12  60,501  60,501 
Accumulated losses  (21,481)  (26,554)
Fair value reserve  917  1,315 

Total equity  39,937  35,262 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  177,352  171,872 

Wilson S Benjamin
Chairman

Sheikh Abdullah A.K Al Sabah
Vice Chairman

Ritchie Skelding
Chief Executive Officer

The attached notes 1 to 28 form  part of these consolidated financial statements
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2016 2015
Note US$ '000 US$ '000

OPERATING INCOME
Interest income 14  10,699  11,417 
Interest expense 15  (965)  (1,487)

Net interest income  9,734  9,930 
Investment banking income 16  1,149  2,170 
Other income  368  345 
Foreign exchange (loss) gain  (94)  121 

Total operating income  11,157  12,566 

OPERATING EXPENSES
Staff expenses  4,127  3,977 
Premises expenses  329  389 
Other operating expenses 17  1,214  1,122 

Total operating expenses  5,670  5,488 

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
     BEFORE IMPAIRMENT PROVISIONS  5,487  7,078 

Impairment provisions - net 18  (414)  (1,999)

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  5,073  5,079 

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS 
     PER SHARE (IN US$ CENTS) 19  2.10  2.10 

Bahrain Middle East Bank B.S.C.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Wilson S Benjamin
Chairman

Sheikh Abdullah A.K Al Sabah
Vice Chairman

Ritchie Skelding
Chief Executive Officer

The attached notes 1 to 28 form  part of these consolidated financial statements
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Bahrain Middle East Bank B.S.C.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
US$ '000 US$ '000

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  5,073  5,079 

Other comprehensive (loss) income:

Other comprehensive (loss) income to be reclassified to
     profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Fair value reserves (available-for-sale investments): 
     Net amount transferred to statement of income on sale/impairment  21  (707)
     Net changes in fair value during the year  (419)  (114)

Total other comprehensive loss for the year  (398)  (821)
  

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  4,675  4,258 

The attached notes 1 to 28 form  part of these consolidated financial statements
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Bahrain Middle East Bank B.S.C.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Note US$ '000 US$ '000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net profit for the year  5,073  5,079 

Adjustments for:
     Impairment provisions - net 18  414  1,999 
     Depreciation and amortisation  43  50 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
     Treasury bills and placements with financial institutions  -    3,000 
     Investments at fair value through profit or loss  (988)  427 
     Loans and advances  (13,096)  5,363 
     Available-for-sale investments  3,540  (2,610)
     Held-to-maturity investment  37  11 
     Other assets  382  (234)
     Deposits from financial institutions  1,469  320 
     Deposits from customers  (321)  (6,301)
     Other liabilities  (343)  751 

Net cash (used in) from operating activities  (3,790)  7,855 

INVESTING ACTIVITY
Purchase of furniture and equipment  -    (92)

Net cash used in investing activity  -    (92)

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (3,790)  7,763 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  48,371  40,608 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER  44,581  48,371 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS COMPRISE:
Balances with banks and financial institutions  40,374  28,373 
Treasury bills and placements with financial institutions 
     with original maturities of three months or less  4,207  19,998 

 44,581  48,371 

The attached notes 1 to 28 form  part of these consolidated financial statements
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Bahrain Middle East Bank B.S.C.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Share Accumulated Fair value Total
capital losses reserve equity

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Balance at 1 January 2016  60,501  (26,554)  1,315  35,262 

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year  -    5,073  (398)  4,675 

Balance at 31 December 2016  60,501  (21,481)  917  39,937 

Balance at 1 January 2015  60,501  (31,633)  2,136  31,004 

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year  -    5,079  (821)  4,258 

Balance at 31 December 2015  60,501  (26,554)  1,315  35,262 

The attached notes 1 to 28 form  part of these consolidated financial statements
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Bahrain Middle East Bank B.S.C.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

1 ACTIVITIES

Bahrain Middle East Bank B.S.C. (“the Bank”) is a Bahraini Shareholding Company incorporated in the Kingdom 
of Bahrain. On 9 April 2007, the Central Bank of Bahrain (“the CBB”) issued a Conventional Wholesale Banking 
license to the Bank. The commercial registration (“CR”) number of the Bank is 12266. The Bank is listed on the 
Bahrain Bourse under the ticker ‘BMB’. The principal activities of the Bank and its subsidiaries (together “the 
Group”) are trade finance and corporate advisory in the digital media and e-commerce sectors.

The registered office of the Bank is BMB Centre, Building 135, Road 1702, Block 317, Diplomatic Area, Manama, 
Kingdom of Bahrain.

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board 
of Directors on 31 January 2017.

2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

These consolidatted financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank, its subsidiary and the 
investment holding companies of the Bank as at 31 December 2016. 

The Bank’s principal and wholly owned subsidiary is BMB Property Services W.L.L., incorporated in the Kingdom 
of Bahrain and engaged in building management.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. Control is achieved 
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if 
and only if the Group has:

 - Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee);

 - Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
 - The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all 
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

 - The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
 - Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
 - The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group 
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to 
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of 
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests 
having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to 
bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, 
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated 
in full on consolidation.
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2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (continued)

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

 - Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
 - Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests;
 - Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
 - Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;
 - Recognises the fair value of any investment retained;
 - Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and
 - Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in OCI to profit or loss or retained earnings, 

as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION

3.1 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and are in conformity with the 
Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, the Central Bank of Bahrain and Financial Institutions Law, the CBB Rule 
Book (Volume 1 and applicable provisions of Volume 6) and CBB directives, regulations and associated resolutions, 
rules and procedures of the Bahrain Bourse and the terms of the Bank’s memorandum and articles of association.  

3.2  Accounting convention

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis, except for investments at fair value 
through profit or loss and available-for-sale investments, that have been measured at fair value. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (“US$”), this being the functional 
currency of the Group, and are rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise stated.

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1 New and amended standards and interpretations issued and effective

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for the following 
relevant new standards and amendments to IFRS effective as of 1 January 2016:

Amendments to IAS 27: Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
The amendments allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures 
and associates in their separate financial statements. Entities already applying IFRS and electing to change to the 
equity method in their separate financial statements have to apply that change retrospectively. These amendments 
do not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle
These improvements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and are not expected 
to have a material impact on the Group. They include:

 - IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations;
 - IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures;
 - IAS 19 Employee Benefits; and
 - IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.
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Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
The amendments to IAS 1 clarify, rather than significantly change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments 
clarify:

 - The materiality requirements in IAS 1;
 - That specific line items in the statements of profit or loss and OCI and the statement of financial position may 

be disaggregated;
 - That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to consolidated financial statements; 

and
 - That the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method must be presented 

in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between those items that will or will not be subsequently 
reclassified to profit or loss.

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are presented in the 
statement of financial position and the statements of profit or loss and OCI. These amendments do not have any 
impact on the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception
The amendments address issues that have arisen in applying the investment entities exception under IFRS 10 
Consolidated Financial Statements. The amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that the exemption from presenting 
consolidated financial statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity, when the 
investment entity measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value. 

Furthermore, the amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that only a subsidiary of an investment entity that is not an 
investment entity itself and that provides support services to the investment entity is consolidated. All other 
subsidiaries of an investment entity are measured at fair value. The amendments to IAS 28 Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures allow the investor, when applying the equity method, to retain the fair value measurement 
applied by the investment entity associate or joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries.

These amendments are applied retrospectively and do not have any impact on the Group as the Group does not 
apply the consolidation exception.

4.2 New standards and amendments issued but not yet effective

Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s consolidated financial statements 
are listed below. This listing is of relevant standards and interpretations issued, which the Group reasonably 
expects to be applicable at a future date. The Group intends to adopt those standards (where applicable) when 
they become effective:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments that replaces IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 brings together all three 
aspects of the accounting for financial instruments project: classification and measurement, impairment and hedge 
accounting. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application 
permitted. Except for hedge accounting, retrospective application is required but providing comparative 
information is not compulsory. For hedge accounting, the requirements are generally applied prospectively, with 
some limited exceptions. The Group plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date.



50BMB INVESTMENT BANK | ANNUAL REPORT 2016 |

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.2 New standards and amendments issued but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
During 2016, the Group has performed a high-level impact assessment of all three aspects of IFRS 9. This 
preliminary assessment is based on currently available information and may be subject to changes arising from 
further detailed analyses or additional reasonable and supportable information being made available to the Group 
in the future. Overall, the Group expects no significant impact on its balance sheet and equity on implementation 
of IFRS 9.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from 
contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15 revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to 
which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles 
in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to measuring and recognising revenue.

The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities and will supersede all current revenue recognition 
requirements under IFRS. Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early adoption permitted. The Group is currently assessing the impact 
of IFRS 15 and plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date.

In addition to the above, the IASB issued the following new standards and amendments which are not expected 
to have a material impact on the Group:

 - Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 
Joint Venture;

 - Amendments to IAS 7: Disclosure Initiative;
 - Amendments to IAS 12: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses;
 - Amendments to IFRS 2: Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions; and
 - IFRS 16 Leases.

4.3 Foreign currencies

The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into US$ at the rates of exchange prevailing at the 
reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign subsidiaries are translated into US$ at the rates of exchange 
prevailing on the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. 
Income and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated into the 
functional currency at the spot exchange rate at that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated into the functional currency at the spot exchange 
rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms 
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign 
currency differences arising on translation are recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Bahrain Middle East Bank B.S.C.
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4.4 Financial instruments

i) Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”), loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or available-for-sale investments, as appropriate. 
The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets 
recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchase or sale of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or 
convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as described below:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) include financial assets held for trading and financial 
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held 
for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position 
at fair value with net changes in fair value presented in the consolidated statement of income.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate (EIR) method, less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account 
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation 
is included as ‘interest income’ in the consolidated statement of income. The losses arising from impairment are 
recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Held-to-maturity investments
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities are classified as held-to-
maturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold them to maturity. After initial measurement, 
held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the EIR, less impairment. Amortised cost is 
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral 
part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as ‘interest income’ in the consolidated statement of income. The 
losses arising from impairment are recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Available-for-sale investments
Available-for-sale (“AFS”) investments are those that are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair 
value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those that are intended to be held for an indefinite 
period of time and that may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in the market 
conditions.

Bahrain Middle East Bank B.S.C.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.4 Financial instruments (continued)

i)  Financial assets (continued)

After initial measurement, AFS investments are measured at fair value with unrealised gains or losses recognised as 
other comprehensive income in the fair value reserve until the investment is derecognised or impaired, at which 
time the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the fair value reserve to the consolidated statement of income. 
Interest earned whilst holding AFS investments is reported as ‘interest income’ using the EIR method.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognised when:

 - the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
 - the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 

received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and
 - either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither 

transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the 
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.

ii) Impairment of financial assets
An assessment is made at each statement of financial position date to determine whether there is objective evidence 
that a specific financial asset may be impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be 
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred 
after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will 
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where observable data indicates that there is a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults. If such evidence exists, an impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, judgment is made by the management in the estimation of the amount 
and timing of future cash flows along with making judgments about the financial situation of the underlying 
asset and realizable value of collateral. If such evidence exists, the estimated recoverable amount of that asset is 
determined and any impairment loss, determined appropriately, is recognised in the consolidated statement of 
income. Impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows. The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate.

The impaired financial assets together with the associated impairment provisions are written off when there is 
no realistic prospect of future recovery, after obtaining required regulatory approvals. If, in a subsequent year, the 
amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the impairment 
provisions. If an amount written off earlier is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the consolidated statement 
of income.
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Available-for-sale financial investments
For available-for-sale financial assets, the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence 
that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence would include a significant 
or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost. ‘Significant’ is evaluated against the 
original cost of the investment and ‘prolonged’ against the period in which the fair value has been below its 
original cost. When there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss, measured as the difference between 
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised 
in the consolidated statement of income, is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in 
the consolidated statement of income. Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the 
consolidated statement of income. Increases in the fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income.

iii) Renegotiated loans
Where possible, the Group seeks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral. This may 
involve extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once the terms have 
been renegotiated, any impairment is measured using the original effective interest rate as calculated before 
the modification of terms and the loan is no longer considered past due. Management continuously reviews 
renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments are likely to occur. The loans 
continue to be subject to an individual or collective impairment assessment, calculated using the loan’s original 
effective interest rate.

iv) Financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities comprise deposits from financial institutions, deposits from customers and other 
liabilities.

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss, or loans and borrowings, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities 
at initial recognition. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and 
borrowings, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as described below:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprises of financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Gains or losses on these 
instruments are recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Borrowings
After initial recognition, interest bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of income when the liabilities are 
derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.

Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is measured at the higher of 
the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date and the amount 
recognised less cumulative amortisation.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.4 Financial instruments (continued)

iv) Financial liabilities (continued)

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as 
the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

v) Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position if (i) there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and (ii) there is 
an intention to settle on a net basis in order to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

vi) Fair values
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption 
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

 - In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
 - In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability accessible by 

the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumption that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, and that market participants act in their economic best interest.

The fair value of financial instruments that are quoted in an active market is determined by reference to market 
bid prices at the close of business on the statement of financial position date.

In case of unquoted investments, the Group uses the net asset values provided by the fund managers or uses 
valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable 
inputs.

4.5 Payables, accruals and provisions

Provision for employee benefit costs is made in accordance with contractual and statutory obligations and other 
benefit plans approved by the Board of Directors.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, when it is probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

4.6 Dividends and any other appropriations

Proposed dividends are disclosed as appropriations within equity until the time they are approved by the 
shareholders. On approval by shareholders, these are transferred to liabilities until paid out.

Any other appropriations from equity can only be recognised subject to the approval of the shareholders, against 
the appropriation for shareholders in equity. These are subsequently transferred to liabilities once approved by 
the shareholders.
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4.7 Treasury shares

Treasury shares are stated at acquisition cost and are shown as a deduction to equity. Any surplus arising from 
the subsequent sale of treasury shares at a price greater than cost is taken directly to equity and not through the 
consolidated statement of income. Any deficit arising from the subsequent sale of treasury shares at a price lower 
than cost is charged first against the cumulative surplus from past transactions in treasury shares, and where such 
surplus is insufficient, then any difference is charged to accumulated losses.

4.8 Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that (i) engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s 
other components, (ii) whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the Chief Executive Officer (being the chief 
operating decision maker) to make decisions about resources allocated to each segment and assess its performance, 
and (iii) for which discrete financial information is available.

4.9 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short term funds, treasury bills, placements with financial institutions 
and other liquid assets that are readily convertible into cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value 
with an original maturity of three months or less.

4.10 Assets under management

Clients’ assets are managed in a fiduciary capacity and the Group has no entitlement to these assets. Clients bear all 
of the risks and earn a majority of the rewards on their investments, subject to normal management fee arrangements. 
Accordingly, these assets are not included in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position.

4.11 Income and expenses

Interest income is recognised using the effective yield method.

Fee and commission income is recognised when services are rendered.

Investment income from FVTPL investments is recognised on the basis of changes in fair value for the period. 
Capital gains realised on FVTPL investments are recognised by comparing the sale price against the previously 
reported fair value, net of expenses and costs payable in respect of the realisation.

Realised capital gains or losses on available-for-sale investments are taken to the consolidated statement of income 
at the time of derecognition.

Interest expenses is recognised using the EIR method.

4.12 Significant accounting judgements and estimates

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has exercised judgement and estimates as 
mentioned below, in determining the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Fair value measurement
When the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement of financial 
position cannot be derived from active markets, their fair value is determined using net asset values provided by the 
fund managers or using valuation techniques, such as the discounted cash flow model. The inputs to these models 
are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required 
in establishing fair values. The judgements include considerations of inputs such as country risk, illiquidity discounts, 
etc. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. 
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.12 Significant accounting judgements and estimates (continued)

Impairment of loans and advances
The Group regularly reviews its loans and advances to assess whether a provision for impairment should be 
recorded in the consolidated statement of income. In particular, considerable judgement by management is 
required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the level of provisions 
required. Such estimates are necessarily based on assumptions about several factors involving varying degrees of 
judgement and uncertainty, and actual results may differ resulting in future changes to such provisions.

Impairment of available-for-sale investments
The Group records impairment losses on available-for-sale investments when there has been a significant or 
prolonged decline in the investment’s fair value compared to cost. The determination of what is ‘significant’ or 
‘prolonged’ requires judgement and is assessed for each investment separately. In making this judgement, the 
Group evaluates, among other factors, historical share price movements and the duration and extent to which the 
fair value of an investment is less than its cost.

Going concern
The Group’s Board has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied 
that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the Board is not 
aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on a going concern basis.

5 TREASURY BILLS AND PLACEMENTS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Placements with financial institutions include US$ 1,976 thousand (2015: US$ 2,293 thousand) placed with a 
third party retail bank in the Kingdom of Bahrain; representing amounts held on account of sub-participants in 
private equity funds and for the purposes of honoring their capital calls to fund managers.

6 LOANS AND ADVANCES

Trade finance loans relate to insurance backed trade finance transactions as undertaken by the Bank.
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2016 2015
US$ '000 US$ '000

Trade finance  118,861  104,108 
Installment sale receivable  3,533  6,533 
Corporate loan  3,000  3,000 

 125,394  113,641 
Less: Provision for loan losses  (1,436)  (2,936)

 123,958  110,705 

The breakup of provision for loan losses is as follows:
2016 2015

US$ '000 US$ '000

Specific provision  -    1,500 
Collective provision  1,436  1,436 

 1,436  2,936 

Gross amount of loans, individually determined to be impaired -  4,669 
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Installment sale receivable relates to a sale agreement entered by the Bank to sell its investment in a piece of 
land in the State of Kuwait on an installment sale basis. This loan facility was last amended on 4 January 2016. 
The revised repayment of the principal started from February 2016 with final maturity in June 2017. The loan is 
secured by corporate guarantees from a shareholder and also from an associate of the shareholder (refer note 22).

7 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

8 OTHER ASSETS

9 DEPOSITS FROM FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

These represent deposits from financial institutions in the region, which carry fixed interest rates.

10 DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS

Customer participation in funds represents amounts received from customers to be invested in private equity 
funds administered by the Bank, placed with a third party retail bank in the Kingdom of Bahrain. These funds, 
although treated as part of customer deposits, are retained by the Bank until draw-downs are made by private 
equity fund managers. Customer participation in funds includes US$ 266 thousand (2015: US$ 293 thousand) in 
deposits held on behalf of BMB Technology and Telecommunications Fund.

Others consist of deposit amounts from corporates and individual customers.
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2016 2015
US$ '000 US$ '000

Equity and managed funds investments:
Unquoted equity fund investments  5,021  6,638 
Unquoted strategic investments  -    237 

 5,021  6,875 
Debt securities:
Quoted government sukuk  -    2,655 

 5,021  9,530 

2016 2015
US$ '000 US$ '000

Accrued interest receivable  2,080  2,248 
Prepayments  186  214 
Furniture and equipment  40  83 
Others  158  344 

 2,464  2,889 

2016 2015
US$ '000 US$ '000

Cash collateral deposits against trade finance loans  4,386  4,342 
Customer participation in funds  1,976  2,293 
Others  2,043  2,091 

 8,405  8,726 
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11 OTHER LIABILITIES

2016 2015
Number Amount Number Amount

'000 US$ '000 '000 US$ '000
Authorized
Ordinary shares of US$ 0.25 each  2,000,000  500,000  2,000,000  500,000 

Issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares of US$ 0.25 each  242,003  60,501  242,003  60,501 

12 SHARE CAPITAL

15 INTEREST EXPENSE

Treasury shares
At 31 December 2016, the Bank owned 6 of its own shares (31 December 2015: 6 shares). The value of these 
shares is deducted from the shareholders’ equity.

13 STATUTORY RESERVE

The Bahrain Commercial Companies Law requires 10% of the net profit for the year to be transferred to a statutory 
reserve until such reserve equals 50% of the paid up capital. The reserve cannot be utilised for the purpose of 
distribution, except in such circumstances as stipulated in the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law. Transfer to 
statutory reserve has not been made during the year in view of the accumulated losses as of 31 December 2016.

14 INTEREST INCOME
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At 31 December 2016

2016 2015
US$ '000 US$ '000

Accrued interest payable  18  849 
Accrued expenses  1,472  1,467 
Employees' leaving indemnity  400  337 
Provision against litigation  300  -   
Others  253  133 

 2,443  2,786 

2016 2015
US$ '000 US$ '000

Loans and advances  10,130  11,171 
Treasury bills and placements with financial institutions  505  178 
Government and other bonds  64  68 

 10,699  11,417 

2016 2015
US$ '000 US$ '000

Deposits from financial institutions  886  1,168 
Deposits from customers  79  319 

 965  1,487 
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16 INVESTMENT BANKING INCOME

2016
Available-

Loans and for-sale 
advances investments Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

At 1 January 2016  2,936  10,813  13,749 
Charge for the year  -    571  571 
Recovery  (157)  -    (157)
Written-off  (1,343)  (8,367)  (9,710)
Foreign exchange movements  -    (17)  (17)

At 31 December 2016  1,436  3,000  4,436 

2015
Available-

Loans and for-sale 
advances investments Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

At 1 January 2015  2,066  14,554  16,620 
Charge for the year  1,720  1,053  2,773 
Recovery  (774)  -    (774)
Written-off  -    (4,669)  (4,669)
Foreign exchange movements  (76)  (125)  (201)

At 31 December 2015  2,936  10,813  13,749 

17 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

18 IMPAIRMENT PROVISIONS

2016 2015
US$ '000 US$ '000

Fee and commission income  850  1,492 
Gain from available-for-sale investments - net  30  852 
Loss from investments at fair value through profit or loss - net  (315)  (174)
Gain on sale of written-off assets  584  -   

 1,149  2,170 

2016 2015
US$ '000 US$ '000

Legal and professional expenses  312  295 
Provision against litigation  300  -   
Insurance and regulatory charges  214  235 
Communication expenses  126  153 
Business development expenses  87  117 
Others  175  322 

 1,214  1,122 

Bahrain Middle East Bank B.S.C.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016
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19 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the year are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year by the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year as follows:

The Bank did not have any outstanding share options or warrants which could have a dilution effect on the 
earnings per share.        

20 OPERATING SEGMENTS

Segment information        
For management purposes, the Group is organised into three major business segments:

Financing - Financing and trade finance
Investing  - Investments in listed bonds, equities and private equity funds
Other operating segments - Corporate advisory and building management, etc.

The Group’s business segments are broken down by key business activities and those with clearly identifiable 
revenue streams and expenses. The segmentation is in line with segments internally reported to the Chief Executive 
Officer, who is the chief decision maker.

Segment information for the year ended 31 December 2016 is as follows:

Bahrain Middle East Bank B.S.C.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

2016 2015

Net profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Bank (US$ ’000)  5,073  5,079 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year  242,003  242,003 

Basic and diluted earnings per share (US$ cents)  2.10  2.10 

Financing Investing Others Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Interest income  10,635  64  -    10,699 
Interest expense  (965)  -    -    (965)
Investment banking income  169  299  681  1,149 
Other income  -    -    368  368 
Foreign exchange loss  -    -    (94)  (94)

Results from operations  9,839  363  955  11,157 

Impairment provisions - net  157  (571)  -    (414)
Unallocated corporate expenses  -    -    -    (5,670)

Net profit (loss) for the year  9,996  (208)  955  5,073 

Reportable segment assets  170,619  6,349  384  177,352 

Reportable segment liabilities  134,990  -    2,425  137,415 

Equity  39,937 

Total liabilities and equity  177,352 
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Financing Investing Others Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Interest income  11,349  68  -    11,417 
Interest expense  (1,487)  -    -    (1,487)
Investment banking income  1,315  678  177  2,170 
Other income  -    -    345  345 
Foreign exchange gain  -    -    121  121 

Results from operations  11,177  746  643  12,566 

Impairment provisions - net  (946)  (1,053)  -    (1,999)
Unallocated corporate expenses  -    -    -    (5,488)

Net profit (loss) for the year  10,231  (307)  643  5,079 

Reportable segment assets  161,259  9,972  641  171,872 

Reportable segment liabilities  134,673  -    1,937  136,610 

Equity  35,262 

Total liabilities and equity  171,872 

20 OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Segment information for the year ended 31 December 2015 is as follows:

Geographic information

Although the Group’s two main business segments are managed on a worldwide basis, they operate in three 
main geographical areas. The Group’s exposure to credit risk is concentrated in these areas: Europe (Primarily 
Western Europe), North America (United States of America and Canada) and Gulf Cooperation Council (“GCC”). 
The following table shows the distribution of the Group’s revenue and assets by geographical segment, allocated 
based on the location in which the assets and liabilities are located, for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 
31 December 2015:

Bahrain Middle East Bank B.S.C.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Total 

income
Total

assets
Total

income
Total

assets
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Europe  9,989  123,331  10,295  105,089 
North America  951  40,030  1,083  11,542 
GCC  1,070  13,982  1,161  47,533 
Rest of the world  112  9  1,514  7,708 

Total  12,122  177,352  14,053  171,872 
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Total remuneration 2016 2015 2014
Fixed Variable Fixed Variable Fixed Variable

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Members of Board of Directors - 
     Sitting fees  99  -    102  -    82  -   
Members of Board of Directors - 
     Other remuneration  12  -    -    -    -    -   
Approved persons in business lines  1,109  1,128  1,095  1,146  1,087  -   
Approved persons in control functions  665  542  657  350  470  104 
Other material risk takers  91  -    136  28  121  18 
Other staff not included in 
     above categories  1,114  133  1,107  141  945  78 

Total variable remuneration 2016 2015 2014
Cash  Equity Cash  Equity  Cash  Equity 

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Members of Board of Directors  -    -    -    -    -    -   
Approved persons in business lines  564  564  573  573  -    -   
Approved persons in control functions  354  188  159  191  104  -   
Other material risk takers  -    -    28  -    18  -   
Other staff not included in 
     above categories  133  -    141  -    78  -   

21 REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid out to the Board Members, approved persons in business lines, approved persons in 
control functions, other material risk takers and other staff with details on amounts, deferrals and instrument type 
is outlined below:

In the previous year, the Group had initiated a share incentive plan under which eligible employees receive a 
portion of their annual performance-based incentive compensation in the form of shares vesting over a period of 
three years. These shares were granted to the employees at US$ 15 cents per share. There are 10,112,017 shares 
(2015: 5,094,273) in the incentive plan. All these shares have commenced vesting, but have not fully vested as at 
31 December 2016. An income statement charge of US$ 64 thousand (2015: Nil) was taken by the Group based 
on management’s best estimate of the number of shares that are likely to vest.

Included in the variable remuneration to be paid in cash, is US$ 114 thousand (2015: US$ 123 thousand), which 
is deferred cash incentive and will vest over a period of three years based on certain conditions.

The start and end date of the vesting period is based on continued employment as well as satisfaction of certain 
performance conditions. The determination of the amount of expense to be recognised as compensation expense 
in any year is estimated based on a model that takes into account the probability weighted vesting of the shares 
at the fair value on the grant date using the historical pattern of employee tenure. These estimates are updated 
regularly based on actual information.

22 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant 
influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Related parties include entities over 
which the Bank exercises significant influence, major shareholders, directors, key management personnel of the 
Bank and entities owned, controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties.
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Key management personnel of the Group are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Group. Key management personnel comprise the Board of Directors, 
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Heads of Departments. Transactions entered during the year 
and balances as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 are set out below:

All related party transactions are on terms equivalent to arm’s length transactions and are approved by the Board 
of Directors.

Key management compensation

Compensation to key management personnel, including directors, included in the consolidated statement of 
income is as follows:

Guarantee
The Bank has received a corporate guarantee from a shareholder with regard to the Bank’s installment sale 
receivable (refer note 6), and an additional guarantee from an associate of the shareholder.

23 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary purpose of the Bank’s capital management is to ensure that the Bank complies with externally 
imposed capital requirements and that the Bank maintains healthy capital ratios in order to support its business 
and to maximise shareholders’ value.

To manage its capital, the Bank employs standards mentioned in the Basel III Framework, a risk adjusted measure 
of capital adequacy (a Capital Adequacy Ratio or “CAR”) based on the local regulatory implementation of the 
Basel Committee on Banking Supervision’s capital adequacy guidelines.

The Bank has adopted the Standardised Approach for Credit Risk and Market Risk, and the Basic Indicator 
Approach for Operational Risk to determine the capital requirements.

Key management
Personnel

Shareholders and
their related parties

2016 2015 2016 2015
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000’ US$ '000

Statement of financial position

Liabilities
Deposits  -    -    139  304 
Other liabilities - employee leaving indemnity  225  195  -    -   

Statement of income
Investment banking income  -    -    11  39 
Interest expense  -    -    -    92 

2016 2015
US$ '000 US$ '000

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits  1,687  1,683 
Employee leaving indemnity  30  27 

 1,717  1,710 

Directors’ remuneration  111  102 



64BMB INVESTMENT BANK | ANNUAL REPORT 2016 |

Bahrain Middle East Bank B.S.C.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

23 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)

The Capital Adequacy Ratio of the Bank as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 is as follows:

*Substantially all claims on corporates are insured by a major international insurance company with long term 
credit rating of ‘A3’ (Moody’s). As of 31 December 2016, the Bank has utilised insurance wrap of US$ 6.2 million 
(2015: US$ 5.5 million) and eligible financial collateral of US$ 4.4 million (2015: US$ 4.3 million), which is 
reflected in the credit risk weighted exposures.

Regulatory capital 2016 2015
US$ '000 US$ '000

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) and Total Tier 1 (T1)
Share capital  60,501  60,501 
Accumulated losses  (21,656)  (26,742)
Fair value reserve on available-for-sale investments  917  1,211 

Total (a)  39,762  34,970 

Tier 2 (T2)
Collective impairment provision  1,436  1,436 

Tier 2 (T2) (b)  1,436  1,436 

Total capital (c) = (a) + (b)  41,198  36,406 

2016 2015
Risk weighted exposures Risk Risk

Principal  weighted Capital Principal  weighted Capital
amounts equivalents requirement amounts equivalents requirement

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Claims on sovereigns  53  -    -    5,352  -    -   
Claims on banks  44,301  20,854  2,607  45,395  13,817  1,727 
Claims on corporates*  119,751  113,068  14,134  106,578  110,662  13,833 
Investments in securities  6,251  8,952  1,119  7,012  10,518  1,315 
Other assets  2,362  2,362  295  2,674  2,674  334 
Off-balance sheet items
Commitments and contingent
     liabilities  5,811  5,811  726  6,218  6,218  777 

Credit risk weighted exposures  151,047  18,881  143,889  17,986 

Market risk weighted exposure  2,488  311  1,225  153 

Operational risk 
     weighted exposure  19,788  2,474  16,546  2,068 

Total risk weighted exposures (d)  173,323  21,666  161,660  20,207 

Capital ratios

CET 1 and T1 capital (a) / (d) 22.9% 21.6%

Total capital (c) / (d) 23.8% 22.5%

Minimum required as per CBB
     regulatory guidelines under Basel III 12.5% 12.5%
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31 December 2016
Fair value  

through 
profit or 

loss
Held-to-
maturity

Available-
for-sale

Amortised 
cost Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Assets
Balances with banks and financial institutions  -    -    -    40,374  40,374 
Treasury bills and placements 
     with financial institutions  -    -    -    4,207  4,207 
Investments at fair value through profit or loss  1,149  -    -    -    1,149 
Loans and advances  -    -    -    123,958  123,958 
Available-for-sale investments  -    -    5,021  -    5,021 
Held-to-maturity investment  -    179  -    -    179 
Other assets  -    -    -    2,238  2,238 

Total financial assets  1,149  179  5,021  170,777  177,126 

Liabilities
Deposits from financial institutions  -    -    -    126,567  126,567 
Deposits from customers  -    -    -    8,405  8,405 
Other liabilities  -    -    -    2,043  2,043 

Total financial liabilities  -    -    -    137,015  137,015 

31 December 2015
Fair value  

through 
profit or 

loss
Held-to-
maturity

Available-
for-sale

Amortised 
cost Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Assets
Balances with banks and financial institutions  -    -    -    28,373  28,373 
Treasury bills and placements 
     with financial institutions  -    -    -    19,998  19,998 
Investments at fair value through profit or loss  161  -    -    -    161 
Loans and advances  -    -    -    110,705  110,705 
Available-for-sale investments  -    -    9,530  -    9,530 
Held-to-maturity investment  -    216  -    -    216 
Other assets  -    -    -    2,592  2,592 

Total financial assets  161  216  9,530  161,668  171,575 

Liabilities
Deposits from financial institutions  -    -    -    125,098  125,098 
Deposits from customers  -    -    -    8,726  8,726 
Other liabilities  -    -    -    2,316  2,316 

Total financial liabilities  -    -    -    136,140  136,140 

Bahrain Middle East Bank B.S.C.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

24 CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

In the normal course of its business, the Group is exposed to various risks related to the nature of the activities in 
which it engages. The principal sources of risk are credit risk, market risk (comprising of interest rate risk, currency 
risk and equity price risk), liquidity risk, operating and legal risk.

At the Group, the management of financial and other risks is based on the establishment of an appropriate risk 
governance structure, comprising:

• clearly defined exposure and risk limits by geography, sector and counterparty;
• day to day monitoring and management of liquidity risk;
• investment evaluation criteria based on quantitative and qualitative approaches;
• robust operating policies and procedures, including those for specific allocation of risk limits to individual 

obligors and/or transactions;
• on-going review of exposures, excesses and risks by an independent personnel;
• assessment of regulatory compliance by an independent personnel; and
• periodic internal audits of the control environment.

Risk limits are at the heart of this process. The Group begins by setting maximum exposure limits as a percentage 
of capital for major lines of business. Within these macro limits, sub limits are set by geography, obligor type/credit 
grade, instrument, tenor, etc. For trading activities additional controls such as VaR, duration, maximum intraday 
and inter-day exposures, “stop losses”, etc., are applied as well. Individual transactions then take place within 
these sub-limits.

In addition to the existence of various risk limits, overall risk discipline is maintained by the requirement that the 
Group (a) maintains a Basel III Capital Adequacy Ratio in excess of the regulatory required minimum and (b) 
considers the impact on the Group’s liquidity position of any major transaction or new business initiative.

Risk management at the Bank begins at the Board of Directors level. The Board of Directors exercise oversight 
and final approval of the risk management process. It operates through two Board Committees, the Executive 
Committee (“EXCO”) and the Audit Committee (“AC”). With input provided by the Group’s Executive Management 
Committee (“EMC”) that also acts as the Risk Management Committee. The EXCO proposes the overall risk 
management strategy of the Group. Based on its recommendation, the Board of Directors approve the aggregate 
levels of risk the Group can assume as well as reviewing and approving the Group’s risk management policies, risk 
limits and risk control framework. Among its duties, the AC is charged with reviewing and approving the Group’s 
policies and procedures as well as overseeing both the internal and external audits of the Group, including 
matters related to anti-money laundering and terrorism finance.

The Board delegates certain authority to the EXCO to implement the risk control decisions. To carry out these 
responsibilities, the EXCO operates through the EMC.

The EMC is chaired by the Chief Executive Officer and comprises members of the senior management. It serves 
as the Group’s credit committee and asset liability management committee. On an on-going basis, the EMC 
monitors the environment in which the Group operates and the risks to which it is exposed and adjusts the 
Group’s operations as appropriate.

Risk Management (“RM”) plays a key role in this process. RM is independent of the Group’s trading and business 
areas and reports directly to the Audit Committee. It is responsible for identifying and quantifying risk exposures, 
recommending appropriate limits and monitoring usage of them. As part of its duties, the RM prepares a variety 
of daily risk reports, including stress tests, for senior management and the EMC.

Internal Audit, which is independent and also reports to the Audit Committee assists in the risk management 
process. In particular, Internal Audit is charged with a periodic review of the effectiveness of Group’s policies and 
internal controls.
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As a further step in mitigating risks, the Group follows a policy of diversification in its activities and seeks to 
minimize the risk exposure to particular geographical regions, counterparties and types of business. In identifying 
and monitoring risk exposures, the Group uses a variety of quantitative tools as well as qualitative approaches to 
measure risks at the “macro” level. The Group seeks to judiciously balance the use of these two approaches rather 
than rely on a single approach.

The following sections review the principal risks to which the Group is exposed in the normal course of its 
business and how it manages those risks.

a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss arising as a result of the inability or unwillingness of a counterparty to meet its 
obligations to the Group. Risk Management, under the oversight of EMC, has the responsibility for establishing 
credit risk standards and implementing the Group’s credit risk management process.

Maximum exposure to credit risk

Bahrain Middle East Bank B.S.C.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

2016
Neither past Past due or Quarterly

due nor individually Impairment Maximum average
impaired Impaired provisions credit risk balance

ASSETS US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Balances with banks and 
     financial institutions  40,374  -    -    40,374  20,923 
Treasury bills and placements 
     with financial institutions  4,207  -    -    4,207  30,889 
Investments at fair value
     through profit or loss  1,149  -    -    1,149  1,232 
Loans and advances  125,394  -    (1,436)  123,958  119,051 
Available-for-sale investments  -    8,021  (3,000)  5,021  6,986 
Held-to-maturity investment  179  -    -    179  196 
Other assets  2,238  -    -    2,238  2,561 

 173,541  8,021  (4,436)  177,126  181,838 

Off-balance sheet items  7,101  -    -    7,101  7,970 

2015
Neither past Past due or Quarterly

due nor individually Impairment Maximum average
impaired Impaired provisions credit risk balance

ASSETS US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Balances with banks and 
     financial institutions  28,373  -    -    28,373  15,064 
Treasury bills and placements 
     with financial institutions  19,998  -    -    19,998  17,083 
Investments at fair value
     through profit or loss  161  -    -    161  441 
Loans and advances  102,439  11,202  (2,936)  110,705  128,729 
Available-for-sale investments  2,892  17,451  (10,813)  9,530  8,648 
Held-to-maturity investment  216  -    -    216  220 
Other assets  2,592  -    -    2,592  2,812 

 156,671  28,653  (13,749)  171,575  172,997 

Off-balance sheet items  7,508  -    -    7,508  8,071 
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

a)  Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality by class of financial assets

The Group manages the credit quality of financial assets using internal credit ratings. The Group estimates the 
probability of default through its risk grading system which employs a ten-grade scale. The credit worthiness 
is measured in descending order, with ‘1’ having the least probability of default and ‘10’ having the highest 
probability of default.

The Group utilizes both quantitative and qualitative assessment of the credit risks in order to approximate the 
probability of default of a given counterparty. The ten grade scale system is by design aligned with External Credit 
Assessment Institutions (ECAI) own credit rating schematics in order to simplify and streamline the process. This 
also allows for direct comparisons or translations to be made from an ECAI’s rating into the Group’s internal rating 
scale. All of the Group’s assets fall under Standard grade, except for those disclosed as impaired in the above 
table.

The following table shows the relationship between Group’s internal rating system and ECAI’s (i.e. Moody’s and 
S&P) ratings.

Analysis of risk concentration

Concentration of credit risk arises when a number of obligors or counterparties are engaged in similar business 
activities or activities in the same geographic region or have similar economic features that would cause their ability 
to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. 
Accordingly, such concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments 
affecting a particular industry or region.

The following tables summarize the Group’s geographical and industry sector exposures and any potential risk 
concentrations arising there from. Maximum credit risk exposures are detailed without considering the effects, if 
any, of collateral or other credit mitigation techniques on the Group’s assets, liabilities and credit related contingent 
items.

Categories

Standard - there is a very high likelihood of the asset being recovered and 
therefore, represents low risk to the Group.

Sub-standard – inadequately protected by the paying capacity of the obligor 
or possibility that the Group will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are 
not corrected.

Doubtful – highly vulnerable credit position

Loss – already in default or expected to be in default

 Internal rating

 1 to 7 

 
8 

 9 

 10

 ECAI equivalent 

  AAA to B- 

 
CCC- 

 C- 

 Below C- 
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a)  Credit risk (continued)

Geographical region
31 December 2016

North Rest of 
Europe America GCC the world Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Balances with banks and financial
     institutions  3,203  32,113  5,049  9  40,374 
Treasury bills and placements 
     with financial institutions  -    -    4,207  -    4,207 
Investments at fair value 
     through profit or loss  -    300  849  -    1,149 
Loans and advances  117,883  2,582  3,493  -    123,958 
Available-for-sale investments  -    5,021  -    -    5,021 
Held-to-maturity investment  179  -    -     -    179 
Other assets  2,066  14  158  -    2,238 

Total  123,331  40,030  13,756  9  177,126 

Off-balance sheet items  1,739  2,783  2,579  -    7,101 

31 December 2015
North Rest of 

Europe America GCC the world Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Balances with banks and financial
     institutions     2,112  4,294  21,962  5  28,373 
Treasury bills and placements 
     with financial institutions  -    -    15,498  4,500  19,998 
Investments at fair value  -   
     through profit or loss  -    161  -    -    161 
Loans and advances  100,375  782  6,467  3,081  110,705 
Available-for-sale investments  347  6,292  2,891  -    9,530 
Held-to-maturity investment  216  -    -     -    216 
Other assets  2,039  13  418  122  2,592 

Total  105,089  11,542  47,236   7,708  171,575 

Off-balance sheet items  1,989  2,940  2,579  -    7,508 
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

a)  Credit risk (continued)

Industry sector
 31 December 2016 

Banking Consumer
/ Finance Government Goods Others Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Assets
Balances with banks and
     financial institutions  40,374  -    -    -    40,374 
Treasury bills and placements 
     with financial institutions  4,207  -    -    -    4,207 
Investments at fair value 
     through profit or loss  300  -    -    849  1,149 
Loans and advances  2,966  -    105,358  15,634  123,958 
Available-for-sale investments  5,021  -    -    -    5,021 
Held-to-maturity investment  -    -    -    179  179 
Other assets  23  66  1,803  346  2,238 

Total  52,891  66  107,161  17,008  177,126 

Off-balance sheet items  4,522  -    -    2,579  7,101 

 31 December 2015 
Banking Consumer

/ Finance Government Goods Others Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Assets
Balances with banks and
     financial institutions  28,373  -    -    -    28,373 
Treasury bills and placements 
     with financial institutions  17,354  2,644  -    -    19,998 
Investments at fair value 
     through profit or loss  161  -    -    -    161 
Loans and advances  2,962  -    89,629  18,114  110,705 
Available-for-sale investments  6,638  2,655  -    237  9,530 
Held-to-maturity investment  -    -    -    216  216 
Other assets  26  131  1,909  526  2,592 

Total assets  55,514  5,430  91,538  19,093  171,575 

Off-balance sheet items  4,929  -    -    2,579  7,508 
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b)  Market risk

Market risk is defined as potential adverse changes in the fair value or future cash flows of a trading position or 
portfolio of financial instruments resulting from the movement of market variables, such as interest rates, currency 
rates, equity and commodity prices, market indices as well as volatilities and correlations between markets.

The principal market related risks to which the Group is exposed are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and 
equity price risk.

i)  Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will affect the future cash flows or the fair values 
of financial instruments. The Group closely monitors interest rate movements, and seeks to limit its exposure to 
such movements by managing the interest rate repricing structure of its assets and liabilities. The Group actively 
manages its interest rate repricing gap exposure, with a bias towards fixed rates and with exposure limits that are 
approved by the Board of Directors. The Group does not typically take interest rate trading positions and all its 
interest rate risk is typically in the banking book.

All of the Group’s interest earning assets and interest bearing liabilities carry fixed rates of interest, hence, there 
is no sensitivity to interest rate risk.

ii)  Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange 
rates. Majority of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in US Dollar, Qatari Riyal, Bahraini Dinar, 
Euro and Great Britain Pound. As the Qatari Riyal and Bahraini Dinar are pegged to the US dollar, there is 
minimal sensitivity to currency risk.

The table below shows the sensitivity to the Group’s net profit and equity for a movement of +5% in Euro and 
Great Britain Pound against the US$, with all other variables held constant. An equivalent decrease in each of 
these currencies against the US$ would result in an equivalent but opposite impact.

iii) Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities decreases as the result of changes in the level of equity 
indices or individual stocks. The Group is exposed to equity price risk on its investments at fair value through 
profit or loss and available-for-sale investments.

Bahrain Middle East Bank B.S.C.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

Sensitivity to net profit
and equity
2016 2015

Currency US$ '000 US$ '000

Euro  27  39 
Great Britain Pound  10  20 

 37  59 
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

b)  Market risk (continued)

iii) Equity price risk (continued)

The following table depicts the sensitivity to the Group’s net profit and equity for a movement of +5% in the equity 
prices or net asset values of investments at fair value through profit or loss, with all other variables held constant. 
An equivalent decrease would result in an equivalent but opposite impact.

The Group’s exposure to available-for-sale investments mainly represents investments in unquoted equity funds.
Private equity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to sell its investments at a profit within the intended 
time period, which might be due to the investment itself, macro trends in markets for IPO’s and mergers and 
acquisition activity.

The Group manages risks at the specific investment level by (i) investing primarily through managed third party 
funds whose managers have a demonstrated successful track record, by diversifying its investments across (ii) fund 
managers, (iii) different stages in the investment cycle (various stages of venture capital, buy-out, etc.), and (iv) 
geographical locations and industries.

A change of +10% in the carrying value of available-for-sale investments as at 31 December 2016, with all other 
variables held constant, would result an increase in comprehensive income and equity by US$ 0.50 million 
(2015: US$ 0.95 million). An equivalent decrease would result in a decrease in comprehensive income and 
equity by US$ 0.26 million (2015: US$ 0.72 million) and a decrease of US$ 0.24 million (2015: US$ 0.23 
million) in net profit.

Market risk capital charge
The capital requirement for market risk using the Standardised Approach as at 31 December 2016 and 31 
December 2015 was as follows:

Sensitivity to net profit
and equity
2016 2015

US$ '000 US$ '000

Investments at fair value through profit or loss  57  8 

Capital requirement

At 31 
December 

2016
Maximum 

value
Minimum 

value
Average 

value
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Foreign exchange risk  98  184  98  141 
Equity position risk  213  327  213  270 

Capital requirement
At 31 

December 
2015

Maximum 
value

Minimum 
value

Average 
value

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Foreign exchange risk  153  164  113  139 
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c)  Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. It also represents the risk that the Group will 
be unable to realize its assets in a timely fashion for prices close to their carrying values.

In its investing activities, the Group seeks to diversify its assets across instruments and markets and to avoid obligor 
concentrations. This is particularly the case for investments in unlisted private equity funds where the Group has 
consciously implemented a strategy of reducing the Group’s average individual investment size.

Liquidity is managed on a daily basis and senior management closely monitors significant daily changes to the 
liquidity position. In evaluating the liquidity position, the Group also takes into account the possible call of un-
drawn commitments on its investment portfolio.

Held-to-maturity investment matures in 2028. The Group has a contractual maturity of deposits to a single 
counterparty amounting to US$ 126.5 million (2015: US$ 125.0 million) in the first quarter of 2017. However, 
based on management’s estimation, these deposits are expected to be rolled over for a longer period, as in the 
past. The Bank is confident to meet its obligations, as they fall due.

The table below presents the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities based on remaining contractual 
maturities:

Bahrain Middle East Bank B.S.C.
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31 December 2016

Up to 3 
months

> 3 
months 
up to 6 
months

> 6 
months 

up to 12 
months

> 1 year 
up to 5 

years
Over 5 

years Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Assets
Balances with banks and
     financial institutions  40,374  -    -    -    -    40,374 
Treasury bills and placements 
     with financial institutions  4,207  -    -    -    -    4,207 
Investments at fair value 
     through profit or loss  1,149  -    -    -    -    1,149 
Loans and advances  71,081  35,874  14,037  2,966  -    123,958 
Available-for-sale investments  1,004  1,506  2,511  -    -    5,021 
Held-to-maturity investment  -    -    -    -    179  179 
Other assets  1,884  343  131  40  66  2,464 

Total assets  119,699  37,723  16,679  3,006  245  177,352 

Liabilities
Deposits from financial
     institutions  126,567  -    -    -    -    126,567 
Deposits from customers  8,405  -    -    -    -    8,405 
Other liabilities  1,253  -    889  301  -    2,443 

Total liabilities  136,225  -    889  301  -    137,415 

Net liquidity gap  (16,526)  37,723  15,790  2,705  245  39,937 

Cumulative liquidity gap  (16,526)  21,197  36,987  39,692  39,937  39,937 
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31 December 2016

Up to 3 
months

> 3 
months 
up to 6 
months

> 6 
months 

up to 12 
months

> 1 year 
up to 5 

years
Over 5 

years Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Liabilities
Deposits from financial
     institutions  126,571  -    -    -    -    126,571 
Deposits from customers  8,405  -    -    -    -    8,405 
Other liabilities  1,253  -    489  301  -    2,043 

Total undiscounted 
     financial liabilities  136,229  -    489  301  -    137,019 

31 December 2015

Up to 3 
months

> 3 
months 
up to 6 
months

> 6 
months 

up to 12 
months

> 1 year 
up to 5 

years
Over 5 

years Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Assets
Balances with banks and
     financial institutions  28,373  -    -    -    -    28,373 
Treasury bills and placements 
     with financial institutions  19,998  -    -    -    -    19,998 
Investments at fair value 
     through profit or loss  161  -    -    -    -    161 
Loans and advances  70,192  32,086  1,975  6,452  -    110,705 
Available-for-sale investments  4,030  2,063  3,437  -    -    9,530 
Held-to-maturity investment  -    -    -    -    216  216 
Other assets  2,199  397  138  89  66  2,889 

Total assets  124,953  34,546  5,550  6,541  282  171,872 

Liabilities
Deposits from financial
     institutions  53  125,045  -    -    -    125,098 
Deposits from customers  3,017  -    5,709  -    -    8,726 
Other liabilities  1,410  848  528  -    -    2,786 

Total liabilities  4,480  125,893  6,237  -    -    136,610 

Net liquidity gap  120,473  (91,347)  (687)  6,541  282  35,262 

Cumulative liquidity gap  120,473  29,126  28,439  34,980  35,262  35,262 
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Contractual maturity of financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis
The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Group relating to its financial liabilities upon their 
respective earliest contractual maturities at the statement of financial position date. The amounts disclosed in the 
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows (i.e. nominal plus interest) determined by using the forward 
yield curve for the relevant periods.
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31 December 2015

Up to 3 
months

> 3 
months 
up to 6 
months

> 6 
months 

up to 12 
months

> 1 year 
up to 5 

years
Over 5 

years Total
US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Liabilities
Deposits from financial
     institutions  53  125,433  -    -    -    125,486 
Deposits from customers  3,017  -    5,829  -    -    8,846 
Other liabilities  1,278  848  190  -    -    2,316 

Total undiscounted 
     financial liabilities  4,348  126,281  6,019  -    -    136,648 

c) Liquidity risk (continued)

d) Operating and legal risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems 
or from external events. The Group’s risk framework contains Operational Risk policy designed to monitor and 
review operational risks. The policy requires the tracking of risk events, key risk indicators and loss events and 
for department heads and risk managers to periodically review those reports. Business Continuity Planning and 
Succession Planning are also integral parts of the Risk Framework of the Group.

Currently, the Group conducts its business from a single location. The Bank does not operate a retail banking 
franchise. Accordingly, the number of client relationships and volume of transactions at the Group are lower 
than at such retail institutions. These factors mitigate to some extent the operational risks to which the Group is 
exposed, both in terms of volumes of transactions and the liquidity of the assets underlying these transactions (e.g. 
the Group does not offer cash deposit/withdrawal services, ATMs, credit cards, etc.).

The Group’s operations are conducted according to well-defined procedures. These procedures include a 
comprehensive system of internal controls, including segregation of duties and other internal checks, which are 
designed to prevent either inadvertent staff errors or malfeasance prior to the release of a transaction.

Legal risk includes the risk of non-compliance with applicable laws or regulations, the illegality or unenforceability 
of counterparty obligations under contracts and additional unintended exposure or liability resulting from the 
failure to structure transactions or contracts properly. Legal risks are mitigated through legal counsel review of 
transactions and documentation, as appropriate. Where possible, the Group uses standard formats for transaction 
documentation.

To protect the Group from involvement in money laundering or terrorist finance activities, the Group has 
implemented a comprehensive set of policies and procedures. Adherence to the Group’s policies and procedures 
is reinforced through periodic staff training and internal and external reviews, as well as internal and external 
review by auditors.

To further mitigate operational and legal risks, the Group purchases a variety of insurance.

Bahrain Middle East Bank B.S.C.
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26 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Commitments mainly include commitments to participate in investments. Undrawn investment commitments 
comprise contractual commitments to investments made in equity funds. These amounts are called by fund 
managers, generally for a period of between four and six years.

The outstanding commitments and contingent liabilities at 31 December were as follows:

At 31 December 2016, the Bank had undrawn investment commitments to private equity funds of US$ 4,522 
thousand (31 December 2015: US$ 4,929 thousand). Of these, the Group’s proprietary commitments amounted 
to US$ 2,812 thousand (31 December 2015: US$ 3,065 thousand) and the balance relates to co-investors of the 
Bank who have committed to sub-participate along with the Bank. 

Other commitments represent unclaimed dividend amounts written back by the Bank in 2011. However, as per 
regulatory requirements, these amounts have been disclosed as a contingent item.

The Group is engaged in litigation cases involving claims made by and against the Group relating to its ex-
employees and certain third parties. The Board, after reviewing the claims pending against the Group and based 
on the advice of the relevant professional legal advisors, are satisfied that the outcome of these claims will not 
have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the Group. The Group has recognised an income 
statement charge of US$ 300 thousand (2015: Nil) against these legal claims (refer note 17).

27 ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

Assets under management amount to US$ 7,227 thousand (2015: US$ 42,626 thousand) as of 31 December 
2016. Assets under management include BMB Technology and Telecommunications Investment Company (under 
liquidation), a US focused venture capital fund of funds, customer sub-participations in private equity funds 
managed by the Group and other client funds managed on a discretionary basis.

28 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s financial instruments are accounted for under the historical cost convention except for the 
measurement at fair value of investments at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale investments. 
Fair value is the price that would be received upon the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Consequently, differences can arise between 
the book amounts and the fair value estimates.

Fair value hierarchy

IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques 
are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources; 
unobservable inputs reflect the Group’s market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the following 
fair value hierarchy:

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly or indirectly. This category includes 
instruments valued using quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments, quoted prices for identical 
or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active or other valuation techniques where all 
significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

2016 2015
US$ '000 US$ '000

Undrawn investment commitments in equity funds  4,522  4,929 
Other commitments  2,579  2,579 
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28 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) 
Level 3 - Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments 
where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a 
significant effect on the instrument’s valuation (i.e. net asset value received from administrator /fund managers).

This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Group considers relevant and 
observable market prices in its valuations where possible.

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments, including their levels in 
the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information for financial instruments not measured at fair 
value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value:

31 December 2016

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Total fair 

values 

Total 
carrying 
amount

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Financial assets measured 
     at fair value

Investments at fair value through 
     profit or loss  849  -    300  1,149  1,149 
Available-for-sale investments  -    -    5,021  5,021  5,021 

Financial assets not measured
     at fair value

Held-to-maturity investment  -    -    149  149  179 

31 December 2015

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Total fair 

values 

Total 
carrying 
amount

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Financial assets measured 
     at fair value

Investments at fair value through 
     profit or loss  -    -    161  161  161 
Available-for-sale investments  2,655  -    6,875  9,530  9,530 

Financial assets not measured
     at fair value

Held-to-maturity investment  -    -    176  176  216 
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28 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Management has assessed that the fair values of financial assets comprising of balances with banks and financial 
institutions, placements with financial institutions, loans and advances and other assets, and financial liabilities 
comprising of deposits from financial institutions, deposits from customers and other liabilities approximate their 
carrying amounts.

For held-to-maturity investment, fair value is lower than the carrying amount; however this shortfall in fair value is 
not relevant except in a forced sale situation since the Bank has the intention to hold held-to-maturity investment 
until maturity when it would recover full nominal amount.

The fair value of held-to-maturity investment is based on last quoted market prices at the reporting date or on the 
present value of future cash flows.

Movements in level 3 investments measured at fair value are as follows:

Level 3 available-for-sale investments represent private equity funds where the underlying fund managers exercise 
judgements in valuation of investments.

During the year, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value hierarchy, and no transfers into 
and out of Level 3 fair value hierarchy.

2016 2015
US$ '000 US$ '000

At 1 January  7,036  9,029 
Net fair value movement  (184)  (291)
Additions  5  150 
Exits (at cost)  (895)  (577)
Fair value transferred to statement of income on disposals / impairment  (641)  (1,275)

At 31 December  5,321  7,036 






